

# **Recommendations on Prevention of Surgical Site Infection**

### 2nd Edition

Scientific Committee on Infection Control, and Infection Control Branch, Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health

September 2017





# Membership (2016)

Chairlady : Dr. LIM Wei Ling, Wilina, S.B.S.

Members : Ms CHING Tai Yin, Patricia, M.H.

Dr. CHOI Kin Wing

Dr. FUNG Sau Chun, Kitty Dr. HO Pak Leung, JP Prof. IP Pik Yiu, Margaret Dr. LEUNG Chi Chiu

Dr. LEUNG Lai Man, Raymond, JP

Prof. LI Yuguo Dr. QUE Tak Lun

Dr. LAW Chi Ming, Norman

Dr. TSANG Ngai Chong, Dominic, B.B.S.

Dr. SETO Wing Hong, S.B.S. Dr. WANG Kin Fong, Teresa Dr. WONG Tin Yau, Andrew

Ms YIP Kam Siu, Ida

Dr. YUNG Wai Hung, Raymond, M.H.

Secretary : Dr. AU Ka Man

# Correspondence

Address: Scientific Committee on Infection Control Secretariat

Centre for Health Protection

4/F Programme Management and Professional Development

Branch,

147C Argyle Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Telephone: 2125 2186 Fax: 2761 3272

E-mail: sc chairman@dh.gov.hk





# I. Background

The Scientific Committee on Infection Control (SCIC) endeavours to prevent surgical site infection. In this connection, the SCIC has developed the Recommendations on Prevention of Surgical Site Infection with the joint effort by the Infection Control Branch, Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health and the Central Committee on Infectious Diseases and Emergency Response, Hospital Authority. The recommendations provided by SCIC serve as guidance for the hospital colleagues in the formulation of strategies, programmes and plans for the prevention of surgical site infection.

# II. Acknowledgements

2. The SCIC would like to express the most sincere thanks to the following parties for their dedication and valuable contribution to the preparation of the "Recommendations on Prevention of Surgical Site Infection".

#### **III.** Guideline review group (2nd edition)

#### A. External reviewer:

Dr. Trish M. Perl (Professor, Chief, Division of Infectious Disease, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, USA)

#### **B.** Internal reviewers:

Dr. Wong Tin Yau, Andrew (Head, ICB)

Dr. Lui, Leo (AC, ICB)

Dr. Chen Hong (AC, ICB)

Ms Leung Suk Yee, Jane (APN, ICB)

Ms Fu Kit Yee (APN, ICB)

Ms Tsang Yuen Ki, Candy (APN, ICB)

#### IV. Ex-member of guideline development group (1st edition)

#### A. Previous Scientific Committee on Infection Control Members

Dr. Kwan Kai Cho, Joeseph





#### Dr. Tong Cheuk Yan, William

#### **B.** Infection Control Branch Members

Dr. Yung Wai Hung, Raymond, Head

Dr. Bosco Lam, Medical Officer

Ms Chan Wai Fong, Advanced Practice Nurse

Ms Tsang Pui Yee, Kennis, Registered Nurse

Ms Yuen Woon Wah, Maggie, Registered Nurse

#### C. External Consultation Parties

Dr. Rodney A Lee, Consultant, Microbiology, Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital

Dr. Vincent C C Cheng, Consultant, Microbiology, Queen Mary Hospital Members of Central Committee on Infectious Diseases and Emergency Response, Hospital Authority

Chairman, Infection Control Committee, Department of Health

Task Force on Infection Control (TFIC), Hospital Authority

Representatives from Department of Health

Representatives from Hospital Infection Control Team

Members of Coordinating Committee (COC) in Surgery, Hospital Authority

Members of Coordinating Committee (COC) in Orthopaedic & Traumatology, Hospital Authority

Members of Coordinating Committee (COC) in Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Hospital Authority

Central Committee on Neurosurgical Services, Hospital Authority Members of Implementation Committee on Antibiotic Stewardship Program (ICASP), Hospital Authority





The 1<sup>st</sup> edition was dedicated to the late

# Dr. Rosie Fan

who had contributed enormously to the development of the recommendations.





# **Contents**

I.	Introduction				
II.	Recommendations on Prevention of Surgical Site Infection9				
	A.	Preparation of Surgical Patients	9		
	B.	Preoperative Care of the Operation Site	9		
	C.	Preoperative Surgical Hand Preparation of Surgical Team	. 10		
	D.	Antimicrobial Prophylaxis	. 12		
	E.	Ventilation and Environment in the Operating Theatre	. 13		
	F.	Surgical Attire and Drapes	. 15		
	G.	Sterilization of Surgical Instruments	. 16		
	H.	Asepsis	. 17		
	I.	Surgical Technique	. 17		
	J.	Postoperative Incision Site Care	. 17		
	K.	Surgical Site Infection Surveillance	. 18		
	L.	Quality Measures	. 19		
	M.	Management of surgical patients suspected or confirmed of nonary tuberculosis (TB) or other airborne infections	. 19		
III. Pro		ppendix 1: Suggested Guidelines for Surgical Antimicrobial	. 21		
IV. har		ppendix 2:Protocol for surgical scrub with medication and surgical paration technique with an alcohol-based handrub formulation	. 22		
V	R	eferences	25		





#### I. Introduction

Surgical site infection (SSI) remains the second most frequent type of HAI in high-income areas. (1) It accounts for 14% to 16% of hospital-acquired infections with reported rates ranged from 0.5% to 13%, depending on the type of surgery and patient characteristics. (2, 3) Applying strategies for the prevention of surgical site infection help to reduce surgical patients' morbidity, mortality and length of stay, and save cost for the healthcare institutions. (4)

- 2. All SSI prevention measures effective in adult surgical care are also applied to pediatric surgical care. (4)
- 3. Nowadays, more and more open surgeries are replaced by laparoscopic surgeries in Hong Kong and evidence shows that the risk of surgical site infection of laparoscopic surgery is comparatively lower. SSI prevention measures which are applied in open surgery (e.g. open cholecystectomy) in the recommendations are also indicated for their laparoscopic counterparts (e.g. laparoscopic cholecystectomy) unless indicated otherwise. (4)
- 4. It is widely accepted that patient risk factors, operative and environmental characteristics increase the risk of surgical site infection and few have been proven to independently influence the risk of surgical site infection. Some of the patient factors are not alterable, such as extremes of age. Cessation of smoking requires patient initiative and is appropriate for elective surgery only. Obesity may be associated with increased risk of surgical site infection.
- 5. Among the well accepted measures to prevent surgical site infection, the Institute for Healthcare Improvement highlights several imperatives for reducing surgical site infection. It is called bundle of care and although consists of four evidence-based components, is grouped as a single intervention and standard of care for patients undergoing surgical procedures. These components include appropriate use of antibiotics, appropriate hair removal, postoperative glucose control in patients undergoing major cardiac





surgery and postoperative normothermia in colorectal surgery patients. (5)

6. A multidisciplinary team work approach is necessary to successfully implement the preventive measures and improvement in surgical site infection. The team may include anyone who has a role in the surgical care process, e.g. surgical staff, anaesthesiologists, operating room assistants, infection control personnel, pharmacists, supporting staff, quality control officers, engineers, etc. All direct care healthcare workers should be educated of the risks of surgical site infection and preventive measures.





# II. Recommendations on Prevention of Surgical Site Infection

#### A. Preparation of Surgical Patients

- (a) Eradicate or treat all infections remote to the surgical site before surgery whenever possible. (6, 7)
- (b) Screen patients for presence of hyperglycaemia and implement protocol to adequately control the serum blood glucose level perioperatively and during the first 48 hours postoperatively for both diabetic and non-diabetic patients undergoing cardiac and other major operations.(1, 8-11)
- (c) Minimize the preoperative length of stay of the patients in the hospital, such as completing pre-surgical assessments and correcting underlying conditions before admission to hospital for operation and performing elective surgery, where possible, in ambulatory day centres. (1, 4, 12)
- (d) Educate the patients about the increased risk of smoking on postoperative surgical site infection and encourage patients to stop smoking or taking any tobacco consumption at least 30 days before the operation. (4, 13-16)
- (e) Maintain normothermia (above 36°C) in the operating room and during the surgical procedure. The supportive measures include a combination of warmed blankets, warming devices, and warmed intravenous fluids, increase ambient temperature in the operating room, and a consistent method and equipment for monitoring patients' temperature. (1, 5, 16-19)
- (f) Optimize tissue oxygenation in adult patients undergoing general anaesthesia with endotracheal intubation for surgical procedures by administering an 80% fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO<sub>2</sub>) intraoperatively and, if feasible, in the immediate postoperative period for 2-6 hours to reduce the risk of SSI. (1, 16)

#### **B.** Preoperative Care of the Operation Site

(a) Remove hair if needed and when it interferes with the operation.





Perform hair removal immediately before surgery and preferably with a clipper. (16, 20, 21) Shaving is not recommended as it increases the risk for surgical site infection. (1)

- (b) Educate and assist patients in taking shower wash or bath at least the night before the operation. Either plain soap or an antimicrobial soap can be used. Preoperative showers reduce the skin's microbial colony counts but studies did not show reduction in SSI rates. (1, 4, 11, 22-25)
- (c) Chlorhexidine is a more effective skin disinfectant (26, 27) and repeated applications with this agent may be indicated for cardiac thoracic and orthopaedic surgical patients with known MRSA in hospitals and units where there is a high incidence of postoperative wound infections by MRSA or MRSE. (28-30)
- (d) Use alcohol-based antiseptic solutions containing chlorhexidine for surgical site skin preparation in patients undergoing surgical procedures (1)
- (e) Colonic preparation and lavage perioperatively is unnecessary in colorectal surgery for preventing anastomotic leaks and wound infections. (31, 32)
- (f) Inspect and clean gross contamination of skin at and around the incision site before performing preoperative antiseptic skin preparation in the operating theatre. (4)
- (g) Do not perform preoperative antiseptic skin preparation of the incision site in the clinical areas, such as in the ward or patient's bedside. (4)
- (h) Antiseptic skin preparation should include surgical incision and drain sites.(4)

#### C. Preoperative Surgical Hand Preparation of Surgical Team

- (a) Nails should be kept short. Artificial fingernails are prohibited. Rings, wrist-watch and bracelets should be removed before surgical hand preparation. (33)
- (b) On arrival in the operating theatre and after having donned theatre





clothing, or if hands are visibly soiled, wash hands with plain soap and water. This step should be done before surgical hand preparation. Remove debris from underneath fingernails using a nail cleaner, preferably under running water. Brushes are not recommended for surgical hand preparation. (33)

- (c) The surgical hand antiseptic product should be either an antimicrobial soap (e.g. 4% chlorhexidine or 7.5% povidone-iodine) or an alcohol-based handrub. (1, 33), Alcoholic Chlorhexidine was found to have greater residual antimicrobial activity. However, no clinical trials have evaluated the impact of scrub agent choice on SSI risk. (34-39)
- (d) When performing surgical hand antisepsis using an antimicrobial soap, scrub hands and forearms for the length of time recommended by the manufacturer, typically 2 to 5 minutes. Long scrub times (e.g.10 minutes) are not necessary. (33, 40)
- (e) When using alcohol-based surgical handrub product with sustained activity, follow the manufacturer's instructions for application times and observe the following guidance: (33)
  - (i) Apply the product on dry hands only.
  - (ii) Do not combine surgical hand scrub and surgical handrub with alcohol-based products sequentially.
  - (iii) When using an alcohol-based handrub, use sufficient product to keep hands and forearms wet with the handrub throughout the surgical hand preparation procedure.
  - (iv) After application of alcohol-based handrub as recommended, allow hands and forearms to dry thoroughly before donning sterile gloves.
  - (v) The proper sequence for surgical hand scrub with a medicated soap and surgical hand rub with an alcohol-based technique is included in Appendix 2.





#### D. Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

- (a) Administer surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis as indicated, such as in some operations classified preoperatively as clean surgical wounds and clean-contaminated surgical wounds. Operations classified as contaminated or dirty surgical wounds are frequently receiving therapeutic antimicrobial agents preoperatively to treat related infections. They are not regarded as surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis.(41-44)
- (b) Select antimicrobial agents according to antimicrobial efficacy against the common pathogens most likely encountered in the specific surgical sites.
- (c) Antimicrobial dosage modification may be necessary for the elderly, the very obese individuals, those with renal failure and / or liver failure. New guidelines recommend weight-based dose adjustment. (16, 44)
- (d) Avoid using newer broad-spectrum antibiotics whenever possible. Relatively narrow spectrum antibiotics, such as Cefazolin and Cefuroxime are preferred.
- (e) Do not use Vancomycin as a routine surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis.
- (f) Use pre-operative Mupirocin nasal ointment 2 % and take shower wash or bath with Chlorhexidine gluconate 4% skin cleanser and shampoo in known carriers of Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)* undergoing cardiothoracic and orthopaedic surgeries with implants where morbidity and mortality due to surgical infections are significant. (1, 16, 28, 44-46)
- (g) The duration of antimicrobial prophylaxis should not routinely exceed 24 hours. (41, 44)
- (h) For many prophylactic antimicrobial agents, the administration of an initial dose should be given within 30 minutes before surgical incision to achieve an adequate tissue concentration at the time of initial incision. Administer additional intraoperative doses if the operation time exceeds two serum half-lives of the antimicrobial agent, or massive intraoperative blood losses occur (>1500ml). Administration of vancomycin and fluoroquinolones should begin within 120 minutes





before surgical incision. (44)

- (i) Antimicrobial irrigation (e.g. intra-abdominal, deep, or subcutaneous tissues) for the prevention of SSI is of uncertain benefits and harms. (13)
- (j) Whenever a proximal tourniquet is required, complete the infusion of the prophylactic antimicrobial agents before the tourniquet is inflated.
- (k) For cesarean section, administering the initial dose of antimicrobial prophylaxis prior to skin incision is now considered more effective than after the umbilical cord is clamped. (43, 47)
- (l) Laparoscopic cholecystectomy carries a low rate of postoperative infection, attributable to the relative minor trauma, earlier patient mobilization and prompt resumption of nutrition. (48, 49) Antimicrobial prophylaxis does not seem to lower the incidence of postoperative infective complications, as demonstrated by several randomized controlled trials. (49-51) At present the use of antibiotic prophylaxis in elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy is still controversial.
- (m) For suggestions on indications and choice of prophylactic antimicrobial agents please refer to Appendix 1.

#### E. Ventilation and Environment in the Operating Theatre

- (a) Exert traffic control of operating room by restricting the number of people allowed in the operating room. Keep doors closed to prevent in and out traffic, and limiting unnecessary movement and talking once in the operating room. (4, 13, 52-55)
- (b) Maintain positive-pressure ventilation in operating rooms with respect to corridors and adjacent areas. (4, 13, 52) A programme for periodic checking and system maintenance assessment is important to ensure that the target pressure gradient is maintained and that out of range performance can be detected. (52-56) A device or a simple visual method which requires a minimum differential pressure to indicate airflow direction is desirable.
- (c) Maintain the ventilation at a minimum of 20 air changes per hour (ACH) of which at least 4 ACH should be fresh air (4, 13, 57). Airflow





monitoring device(s) with alerting feature for out of range performance should be in place. A program for periodic checking and system maintenance assessment is important to ensure that the target airflow is maintained. (52-54)

- (d) Filter for all incoming air through MERV 7 & MERV 14 filters (or equivalent) at a minimum (53, 54, 56, 57)
- (e) Introduce air at the ceiling and exhaust air near the floor. (4, 13, 52, 55)
- (f) Laminar airflow ventilation systems (ultraclean air) and ultraviolet irradiation are not necessary to decrease overall surgical site infection risk, even for orthopaedic implant operations, if appropriate antiseptic precautions and prophylactic antibiotic policy are implemented (4, 13, 52, 58-60).
- (g) Maintain relative humidity at 20-60% and temperature at 20-24°C. (53, 54)
- (h) Do not shut down the heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems for purposes other than required maintenance, filter changes and construction. (52-54)
- (i) The design of sinks should reduce risk of splashes. (33) If strainers are used in water taps, they should be inspected, cleaned, descaled and disinfected regularly or on a frequency defined by the proper risk evaluation, taking account of the manufacturer's recommendations. (61)
- (j) Do not use tacky mats at the entrance to the operating room suite or individual operating rooms for infection control. (4, 52)
- (k) Microbiologic air sampling
  - (i) Allow adequate time for commissioning including microbiological assessments by the hospital infection prevention and control team before an operating theatre is first used and after any substantial modifications that may affect airflow patterns in pre-existing theatres. (62) As microbiological sampling is time consuming, the use of particle counters may be of value. (63) However, air particle count does not reliably correlate with





- microbiological sampling thus cannot be a replacement of the latter. (63-65)
- (ii) Do not perform microbiological air sampling routinely, provided that engineering parameters such as air distribution, air change rates, pressure differentials and airflow, etc. are satisfactory and regularly monitored. Such sampling should be done as part of an epidemiological investigation, validation of changes in products e.g. HEPA filters, maintenance of operating theatres or as advised by the hospital infection control team. (4, 13, 59, 60)
- (iii) For conventional operating rooms, aerobic cultures on nonselective media should not exceed ten bacterial and/or fungal colony forming units per cubic metre (CFU/m³). (56, 66)

  Initiate an appropriate course of action e.g. re cleaning of the environment and re testing if results are outside the limits If repeat testing produces results above acceptable levels the HVAC systems should be reviewed by the appropriate personnel. (66)

#### F. Surgical Attire and Drapes

- (a) Wear surgical mask to fully cover mouth and nose. (4, 13)
- (b) Wear cap or hood to fully cover head and face hair. (4, 13)
- (c) Surgical gowns and drapes should be sterile and resistant to liquid penetration and remain effective barriers when get wetted. (4, 13)
- (d) Scrubbed surgical team members should wear masks, caps, sterile gowns and gloves. (4, 13) Wearing additional glove barriers, such as double latex gloves or orthopaedic gloves is recommended during procedures that have a high risk of glove perforation. (67, 68) Glove(s) should be changed when perforation is noted. (16)
- (e) Other personnel in the operating theatre must wear surgical masks if an operation is being performed or if sterile instruments are exposed. (4, 13)
- (f) Use sterile surgical drapes to create a barrier between the surgical field and the environment or potential source of bacteria. (4, 13)





- (g) Change surgical gowns and scrub suit if visibly soiled or penetrated by blood or body fluids. (4, 13)
- (h) Shoe covers are not necessary for prevention of surgical site infection. (4, 13)

#### **G.** Sterilization of Surgical Instruments

- (a) All surgical instruments, especially those with long and narrow lumens, hinges must be clean and decontaminated adequately before sterilization process. (69, 70)
- (b) Heat resistant surgical instruments should receive steam sterilization. Heat sensitive instruments can use low temperature sterilization technology, such as hydrogen peroxide plasma, peracetic acid and ethylene oxide sterilization. (71)
- (c) Laparoscopes, arthroscopes and other scopes that enter normally sterile tissue should be sterilized. When it is not feasible, they should at least be treated with high level disinfection after thorough cleansing. (70, 72, 73)
- (d) All endoscopes and accessories used in endoscopy should be reprocessed following every endoscopic procedure, using a uniform, standardized reprocessing protocol. (73)
- (e) Immediate-use steam sterilization (IUSS, formerly known as flash sterilization) of surgical instruments should only be used for emergency with no alternatives. IUSS of implant devices, prosthesis and power instruments or simply to save time should be avoided. (74-76)
- (f) Standard procedures and staff proficiency to carry out IUSS should be monitored. (76)
- (g) IUSS record (i.e. load identification, patient/ hospital's identifier, mechanical, chemical +/- biological result) should be maintained and updated for epidemiological tracking and for an assessment of the





reliability of the sterilization process. (70, 75, 76)

(h) To assure sterility and proper handling of instruments, a quality control programme should be established and documented. (4, 75, 76)

#### H. Asepsis

- (a) The principle of aseptic technique should be complied during operations, when inserting intravascular devices, administration of admixture and medication, or placing anaesthetic devices. (4)
- (b) Sterile surgical instruments, medications and solutions should be assembled just prior to use. (4)

#### I. Surgical Technique

- (a) Maintain good operative techniques during the operation, such as, gentle tissue handling to minimize trauma, minimal use of cautery, careful haemostasis, adequate debridement and removal of dead, devitalized tissue and foreign bodies. (4, 13)
- (b) If the surgical site is heavily contaminated, leave the incision open to close later when it is clean. (4, 13, 77)
- (c) Use close suction drain and insert through a separate incision if surgical drainage is necessary. Remove the drain as soon as possible. (4, 13)

#### J. Postoperative Incision Site Care

- (a) Cover the primarily closed clean surgical wound with sterile dressing and keep it intact for 24-48 hours postoperatively (4, 13). If excess oozing is noted, the dressing should be replaced. (78-80)
- (b) Use normal saline to cleanse and remove surface bacteria and discharge from wound. (81)
- (c) Perform hand hygiene before and after touching the surgical site or changing dressing. (4, 13)





(d) Teach the patients and their carers how to care and monitor the incision site, signs and symptoms of surgical site infection and to report if any problems occur. (4, 13)

# **K.** Surgical Site Infection Surveillance

- 7. Surgical Site Infection Surveillance with feedback of surgical infection rates to surgeons is one of the successful strategies to help reduce surgical site infection. (82-84) All hospitals with surgical services are recommended to undertake surveillance of surgical site infection using trained infection prevention personnel. (85)
- 8. The main components include:
- (a) Select certain categories of operations in the scope of the surgical site infection surveillance based on risk and volume of procedures in local hospitals. (16, 84)
- (b) Use standardized methods and definitions, such as National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) for data collection and analysis. (4, 86)
- (c) Trained infection prevention personnel with knowledge and understanding of epidemiology, surveillance and plan of the programme should be responsible for case-finding and applying definitions. (85)
- (d) Perform consistent post discharge surveillance of surgical site infection to capture the infection incidence that occurs outside the hospitals, which was essential to make the surveillance data more accurate and complete. (84, 87, 88)
- (e) Stratify operations according to the surgical site infection risk index determined by wound class, ASA score and duration of operation. (89, 90)
- (f) Report the stratified, operation-specific surgical site infection rates periodically to the surgical team members and other stakeholders. (4)
- (g) Benchmark the surveillance data with local and international





benchmark data like the NHSN system. (84, 86, 90)

- (h) Periodically evaluate and validate the application of definition, data and process of the surgical site infection surveillance to ensure high quality and accuracy. (84, 85)
- (i) Investigate outbreak or abnormal clustering of surgical site infection ascribing to, such as clustering of organisms, healthcare personnel or airborne source and make recommendations to frontline staff. (4)

#### L. Quality Measures

- 9. Quality measures should be established to assess the effectiveness of implementing the recommendations. The following parameters can be used as performance indicators:
- (a) Surgical site infection rate (stratified by risk and use bench mark). (16, 87)
- (b) Process measures as appropriate e.g. percentage of surgical cases with appropriate timing, selection, dosage and duration of prophylactic antibiotic in accordance with item 4 above. (16, 85)
- (c) Ventilation and environmental parameters of the operating theatres as listed in item 5 above.

# M. Management of surgical patients suspected or confirmed of pulmonary tuberculosis (TB) or other airborne infections

- (a) A system of detection and communication should be established to evaluate surgical patients prior to surgery and communicate to relevant departments to facilitate arrangement of necessary infection control measures. (91, 92)
- (b) There is no recommendation for changing pressure in operating room from positive to negative or setting it to neutral. (50, 92)
- (c) Perform only emergency operations or diagnostic procedures as indicated. Postpone elective surgery until after the infectious period or





after effective therapy if delaying the operation does not cause increased risk to the patients. (92)

- (d) Schedule patient as the last case of the day to provide maximum time for adequate air changes if the delay of operations does not cause increased risk to the patients.
- (e) HEPA filters should be installed in the exhaust duct leading from the operating room into the general circulating system if air is to be re-circulated. This is allowed in existing facilities only. For new facilities, recirculation is not allowed. Exhaust air directly outdoor would be required in areas with potential contamination. (57, 92, 93)
- (f) Install high-efficiency filters between the anaesthesia breathing circuit and the patients. (50, 92) The entire breathing circuit should be changed and safely discarded after used (94, 95). Close suctioning system is preferred.
- (g) N95 respirators without exhalation valves should be worn for respiratory protection of surgical personnel in the operating theatre. (52, 92)
- (h) Perform aerosol generating procedures, such as intubation and extubation in an airborne isolation room if feasible. (52)

Centre for Health Protection

1<sup>st</sup> edition February 2009

2<sup>nd</sup> edition September 2017

(Last updated: February 2019, with Addendum 02/2019 on Page 32)

The copyright of this paper belongs to the Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Contents of the paper may be freely quoted for educational, training and non-commercial uses provided that acknowledgement be made to the Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. No part of this paper may be used, modified or reproduced for purposes other than those stated above without prior

permission obtained from the Centre.





# III. Appendix 1: Suggested Guidelines for Surgical Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

 $\begin{array}{c} \textbf{IMPACT (5th Edition) Part VI: Guidelines for surgical prophylaxis} \\ \underline{\textbf{IMPACT Website}} \end{array}$ 



http://impact.chp.gov.hk

**IMPACT** mobile applications for download

iOS



Android







# IV. Appendix 2: Protocol for surgical scrub with medication and surgical hand preparation technique with an alcohol-based handrub formulation.

(Source: WHO guideline on hand hygiene in healthcare facilities 2009)

#### Table I.13.2

Protocol for surgical scrub with a medicated soap

#### **Procedural steps**

- · Start timing. Scrub each side of each finger, between the fingers, and the back and front of the hand for 2 minutes.
- Proceed to scrub the arms, keeping the hand higher than the arm at all times. This helps to avoid recontamination of the hands by water from the elbows and prevents bacteria-laden soap and water from contaminating the hands.
- · Wash each side of the arm from wrist to the elbow for 1 minute.
- Repeat the process on the other hand and arm, keeping hands above elbows at all times. If the hand touches anything at any time, the scrub must be lengthened by 1 minute for the area that has been contaminated.
- Rinse hands and arms by passing them through the water in one direction only, from fingertips to elbow. Do not move the arm back and forth through the water.
- · Proceed to the operating theatre holding hands above elbows.
- · At all times during the scrub procedure, care should be taken not to splash water onto surgical attire.
- Once in the operating theatre, hands and arms should be dried using a sterile towel and aseptic technique before donning gown and aloves.





The handrubbing technique for surgical hand preparation must be performed on perfectly clean, dry hands.

On arrival in the operating theatre and after having donned theatre clothing (cap/hat/bonnet and mask), hands must be washed with soap and water.

After the operation when removing gloves, hands must be rubbed with an alcohol-based formulation or washed with soap and water if any residual talc or biological fluids are present (e.g. the glove is punctured).

Surgical procedures may be carried out one after the other without the need for handwashing, provided that the handrubbing technique for surgical hand preparation is followed (Images 1 to 17).



Put approximately 5ml (3 doses) of alcohol-based handrub in the palm of your left hand, using the elbow of your other arm to operate the dispenser



Dip the fingertips of your right hand in the handrub to decontaminate under the nails (5 seconds)



Images 3–7: Smear the handrub on the right forearm up to the elbow. Ensure that the whole skin area is covered by using circular movements around the forearm until the handrub has fully evaporated (10-15 seconds)



See legend for Image 3



See legend for Image 3



See legend for Image 3



See legend for Image 3



Put approximately 5ml (3 doses) of alcohol-based handrub in the palm of your right hand, using the elbow of your other arm to operate the dispenser



Dip the fingertips of your left hand in the handrub to decontaminate under the nails (5 seconds)



Figure 1.13.1
Surgical hand preparation technique with an alcohol-based handrub formulation (Cont.)



#### V. References

- 1. World Health Organization. Global Guidelines for the prevention of surgical site infection [online] 2016 [cited 2016 Dec 10]. Available from: <a href="http://www.who.int/gpsc/ssi-prevention-guidelines/en/">http://www.who.int/gpsc/ssi-prevention-guidelines/en/</a>
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) system report, data summary from January 1992 through June 2004, issued October 2004. Am J Infect Control. 2004; 32: 470-85.
- 3. Public Health England. Surveillance of Surgical Site Infections in NHS hospitals in England 2014/2015. London: Public Health England; 2015.
- 4. Mangram AJ, Horan TC, Pearson ML, Silver LC, Jarvis WR. et al. Guideline for prevention of surgical site infection. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 1999; 20:247-78.
- 5. Institute for Healthcare Improvement. Prevent surgical site infection.[online] 2012 [cited 2016 April 5]. Available from: <a href="http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/howtoguidepreventsurgicalsiteinfection.aspx">http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/howtoguidepreventsurgicalsiteinfection.aspx</a>
- 6. Edwards LD. The epidemiology of 2056 remote site infections and 1966 surgical wound infections occurring in 1865 patients: a four year study of 40,923 operations at Rush-Presbyterian –St. Luke's Hospital, Chicago. Ann Surg. 1976; 184:758-66.
- 7. Valentine RJ, Weighelt JA, Dryer D, Rodgers C. Effect of remote infections on clean wound infection rates. Am J Infect Control. 1986; 14:64-7.
- 8. Zerr KJ, Furnary AP, Grunkemeier GL, Bookin S, Kanhere V, Starr A. Glucose control lowers the risk of wound infection in diabetics after open heart operations. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;63:356-61.
- 9. Latham R, Lancaster AD, Covington JF, Pirolo JS, Thomas CS. The association of diabetes and glucose control with surgical-site infections among cardiothoracic surgery patients. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2001; 22:607-12.
- 10. Talbot TR. Diabetes mellitus and cardiothoracic surgical site infections. Am J Infect Control. 2005;33:353-9.
- 11. Alexander JW, Solomkin JS, Edwards MJ. Updated recommendations for control of surgical site infections. Ann Surg. 2011;253(6):1082-93
- 12. Rodriguez MD, Cavanillas AB, Gigiosos, RL, Castillo JdDL, Solvas JG, Abril OM, Tunas BR, Espinar AC, Contreras RRm Vargas RG. Hospital stay length as an effect modifier of other risk factors for nosocomial infection. Eur J Epidemiol. 1990;6:34-9.
- 13. Berríos-Torres SI, Umscheid CA, Bratzler DW, et al; Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention guideline for the prevention of surgical site infection, 2017. JAMA Surg. Published online May 3, 2017. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2017.0904.





- 14. Moller AM, Villebro N, Predersen T, Tonnessen H. Effect of preoperative smoking intervention on postoperative complication: a randomized clinical trial. Lancet. 2002;359:114-7.
- 15. Lindström D, Sadr Azodi O, Wladis A et al. Effects of a perioperative smoking cessation intervention on postoperative complications: A randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2008; 248(5):739-45.
- 16. Anderson DJ, Podgorny K, Berríos-Torres SI et al. Strategies to Prevent Surgical Site Infections in Acute Care Hospitals: 2014 Update. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014 Jun; 35(6): 605–627
- 17. Kurz A, Sesssler DI, and Lenhardt R. Perioperative normothermia to reduce the incidence of surgical wound infection and shorten hospitalization. Study of Wound Infection and Temperature Group. New Eng J Med. 1996; 334:1209-15.
- 18. Melling AC, Ali B, Scott EM, and Leaper DJ. Effects of preoperative warming on the incidence of wound infection after clean surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Lancet. 2001;358:876-80.
- 19. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Hypothermia: prevention and management in adults having surgery. [online] 2008 [updated 2016 Dec; cited 2019 Feb 8]. Available from: <a href="https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg65">https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg65</a>
- 20. Tanner J, Norrie P, Melen K. Preoperative hair removal to reduce surgical site infection. Cochrane Database of Systemic Reviews. 2011(9) Art No. CD004122 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004122.pub4.
- 21. Seropian R, Reynolds BM. Wound infections after preoperative depilatory versus razor preparation. Am J Surg. 1971;121:251-4.
- 22. Hospital Infection Society Working Party. A report from the Hospital Infection Society Working Group on Infection Control in the Operating Theatres. J Hosp Infect. 2002; 51:241-25.
- 23. Rotter ML, Larson SO, Cooke EM et al. A comparison of the effects of preoperative whole-body bathing with detergent alone and with detergent containing chlorhexidine gluconate on the frequency of wound infections after clean surgery. J Hos Infect. 1988; 11: 310-20.
- 24. Leigh DA, Stronger JL, Marriner J et al. Total body bathing with 'Hibiscrub (chlorehexidine) in surgical patients: a controlled trial. J Hosp Infect. 1983;4:229-35.
- 25. Lynch W, Davey PG, Malek M et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of the use of cdetergent in preoperative whole-body disinfection in wound infection prophylaxis. J Hosp Infect. 1992; 21:179-91.
- 26. Kaiser AB, Kernodle DS, Barg Nl, Petracek MR. Influence of preoperative showers on staphylcoccal skin colonization: a comparative trial of antiseptic skin cleansers. Ann Thorac Surg. 1988; 45:35-8.
- 27. Garibaldi RA. Prevention of intraoperative wound contamination with Chlorhexidine shower and scrub. J Hosp Infect. 1988; 11 Suppl B:5-9.





- 28. PL Ho, TC Wu, David VK Chao, Ivan FN Hung, Leo Lui, David C Lung, Tommy HC Tang, Alan KL Wu (ed). 2017. Reducing bacterial resistance with IMPACT, 5th edition, Hong Kong. Available from <a href="http://www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/reducing\_bacterial\_resistance\_with\_impact.pd">http://www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/reducing\_bacterial\_resistance\_with\_impact.pd</a>
- 29. Brady LM, Thomson M, Palmer MA et al. Successful control of endemic MRSA in a cardiothoracic surgical unit. Med J Aust. 1990; 152:240-5.
- 30. Tuffnell DJ, Croton RS, Hemingway DM, Hartley MN, Wake PN, Garvey RJ. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the role of antisepsis in the control of an outbreak J Hosp Infect. 1987; 10:255-9.
- 31. Guenaga KF, Matos D, Wille-Jørgensen P. Mechanical bowel preparation for elective colorectal surgery. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011(9). Art. No.: CD001544. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001544.pub4.
- 32. Slim K, Vicaut E, Panis Y, Chipponi J. Meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials of colorectal surgery with or without mechanical bowel preparation. British Journal of Surgery. 2004; 91: 1125-30.
- 33. World Health Organization. WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care [online] 2009 [cited 2016 April 5]. Available from: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2009/9789241597906\_eng.pdf?ua=1
- 34. R Aly, Maibach HI. Comparative study on the Antimicrobial Effect of 0.5% Chlorhexidine Gluconate and 70% Isopropyl Alcohol on the normal flora of hands. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1979; 37: 610-13.
- 35. Lowbury EJL, Lilly HA, Ayliffe GAJ. Preoperative Disinfection of Surgeons' Hands: Use of Aocoholic Solutions and Effects of Gloves on Skin Flora. Br Med J. 1974;4: 369-372.
- 36. Rotter ML, Koller W. Surgical hand disinfection: effect of sequential use of two chlorhexidine preparations. J Hosp Infect. 1990; 16:161-6.
- 37. Wasde JJ, Casewell MW. The evaluation of residual antimicrobial activity on hands and its clinical relevance. J Hosp Infect 1991;18 suppl B:23-8.
- 38. Holloway PM, Platt JH, Reybrouck G, Lilly HA, Mehtar S, Drabu Y. A multi-centre evaluation of two chlorhexidine-containing formulations for surgical hand disinfection. J Hosp Infect. 1990;16:151-9.
- 39. Kobayashi H, Evaluation of surgical scrubbing. J Hosp Infect 1991; 18 Suppl B:29-34.
- 40. World Health Organization. Guidelines for Safe Surgery [online] 2009 [cited 2016 April 25]. Available from: <a href="http://www.who.int/patientsafety/safesurgery/tools\_resources/9789241598552/en/">http://www.who.int/patientsafety/safesurgery/tools\_resources/9789241598552/en/</a>
- 41. Bratzler DW, Houck PM, for the Surgical Infection Prevention Guidelines Writers Workgroup. Scientific paper: antimicrobial prophylaxis for surgery: an advisory statement from the National Surgical Infection Prevention





- Project. Am J Surg. 2005;189: 395-404.
- 42. Martin C, the French Study Group on Antimicrobial Prophylaxis in Surgery, the French Society of Anesthesia and Intensive care. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery: general concepts and clinical guidelines. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 1994; 15: 463-71.
- 43. Page CP, Bohnen JMA, Fletcher JR, McManus AT, Solomkin JS, Wittmann DH. Antimicrobial prophylaxis for surgical wounds: guidelines for clinical care. Arch Surg. 1993; 128:79-88.
- 44. Bratzler DW, Dellinger EP, Olsen KM, Perl TM, Auwaerter PG, Bolon MK et al. Clinical practice guidelines for antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery. Am J Health-Syst Pharm. 2013; 70:195-283
- 45. Schweizer M., Perencevich E., McDanel J., Carson J., Formanek M., Hafner J., et al. Effectiveness of a bundled intervention of decolonization and prophylaxis to decrease Gram positive surgical site infections after cardiac or orthopedic surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2013;346:f2743.
- 46. Bebko S.P., Green D.M., Awad S.S. Effect of a preoperative decontamination protocol on surgical site infections in patients undergoing elective orthopedic surgery with hardware implantation. JAMA Surg. 2015;150(5):390–395.
- 47. Mackeen AD, Packard RE, Ota E, Berghella V, Baxter JK. Timing of intravenous prophylactic antibiotics for preventing postpartum infectious morbidity in women undergoing cesarean delivery. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [online] 2014 [cited 2017 Feb 14] Available from:

#### http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD009516.pub2/pdf

- 48. Shea JA, Berlin JA, Bachwich DR et al. Indications for and outcomes of cholecystectomy: a comparison of the pre and post laparoscopic eras. Ann Surg. 1998:227: 343-350.
- 49. Chang WT, Lee KT, Chuang SC et al. The impact of prophylactic antibiotics on postoperative infection complication in elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective randomized study. Am J Sur. 2006; 191: 721-725.
- 50. Koc M, Zulfikaroglu B, Kece C, Ozalp N. A prospective randomized study of prophylactic antibiotics in elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc. 2003;17:1716-8.
- 51. Higgins A, London, J, Charland S, et al. Prophylactic antibiotics for elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy: are they necessary? Arch Surg. 1999; 134:611-4.
- 52. Sehulster L, Chinn RYW, Arduino MJ et al. Guidelines for environmental infection control in health-care facilities. Recommendations from CDC and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). Chicago IL; American Society for Healthcare Engineering/American Hospital Association; 2004.





- 53. The Facility Guideline Institute. Guidelines for design and construction of hospitals. Dallas: Facilities Guidelines Institute; 2018.
- 54. The Facility Guideline Institute. Guidelines for design and construction of outpatient facilities. Dallas: Facilities Guidelines Institute; 2018.
- 55. Streifel AJ. Design and maintenance of hospital ventilation systems and the prevention of airborne nosocomial infections. In: Mayhall CG, editor. Hospital Epidemiology and Infection Control. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012:1268-80.
- 56. Health Technical Memorandum 03-01: Specialised ventilation for healthcare premises. Part A- Design and validation and Part B- Operational management and performance verification London: The Stationary Office; 2007.
- 57. ANSI/ASHRAE/ASHE Standard 170-2017: Ventilation of Health Care Facilities. ASHRAE Standards Committee; 2017.
- 58. Humphreys H, Taylor EW. Operating theatre ventilation standards and the risk of postoperative infection. J Hosp Infect. 2002; 50:85-90.
- 59. Chow TT, Yang XY. Ventilation performance in operating theatres against airborne infection: review of research activities and practical guidance. J Hosp Infect. 2004;56:85-92.
- 60. Lidwell OM, Elson RA, Lowbury EJ et al. Ultraclean air and antibiotics for prevention of postoperative infection. Acta Orthop Scand. 1987; 58:4-13.
- 61. Code of Practice for Prevention of Legionnaires' Disease (2016 edition) (Incorporating Addendum No. 01/2018). Prevention of Legionnaires' Disease Committee, Hong Kong. [online] 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 27]. Available from: <a href="https://www.emsd.gov.hk/filemanager/en/content">https://www.emsd.gov.hk/filemanager/en/content</a> 645/COP-PLD 2016 a 0118\_en.pdf
- 62. Hoffman P, Williams J, Stacey A et al. Microbiological commissioning and monitoring of operating theatre suites. J Hosp Infect. 2002; 52:1-28.
- 63. Dharan S, Pittet D. Environmental controls in operating theatres. J Hosp Infect. 2002; 51:79-84.
- 64. Landrin A, Bissery A, Kac G. Monitoring air sampling in operating theatres: can particle counting replace microbiological sampling? J hosp Infect. 2005; 61:27-9.
- 65. ML Cristina, AM Spagnolo, M Sartini et al. Can particulate air sampling predict microbial load in operating theatres for arthroplasty? PLoS One. 2012; 7(12): e52809
- 66. Department of Health, Government of Western Australia. Microbiological Air Sampling of Operating Rooms in Western Australian Healthcare Facilities; 2015.
- 67. Tanner J, Parkinson H. Double gloving to reduce surgical





- cross-infection. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006. Issue 3 Art No.: CD 003087.
- 68. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Surgical site infections: prevention and treatment | Guidance and guidelines | NICE 2017 [online] 2017 [cited 2017 Jun 12] Available from: <a href="https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg74/resources/surgical-site-infections-prevention-and-treatment-pdf-975628422853">https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg74/resources/surgical-site-infections-prevention-and-treatment-pdf-975628422853</a>
- 69. Rutala WA, Gergen MF, Hones, JF, Weber DJ. Levels of microbial contamination on surgical instruments. Am J Infect Control. 1998;26:143-5.
- 70. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Guideline for Disinfection and Sterilization in Healthcare Facilities [online]. 2008 [cited 2016 Apr 25]. Available from: <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/pdf/guidelines/Disinfection Nov 2008.pdf">http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/pdf/guidelines/Disinfection Nov 2008.pdf</a>
- 71. Minimal access therapy decontamination working group. Decontamination of minimally invasive surgical endoscopes and accessories. J of Hosp Infect. 2000; 45:263-77.
- 72. Rutala WA, 1996. APIC guideline for selection use of disinfectants. Am J Infect Control. 1996; 24:313-42.
- 73. European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates (ESGENA). ESGE±ESGENA guideline: Cleaning and disinfection in gastrointestinal endoscopy. Update 2008
- 74. Leonard Y, Speroni KG, Atherton M et al. Evaluating use of flash sterilization in the OR: with regard to postoperative infections. AORN. 2006; 83:672-80.
- 75. Hospital Authority Head Office. Guidelines on Disinfection and Sterilization of Reusable Medical Devices for Operating Theatre; 2015 version 2.1
- 76. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. ANSI/AAMI ST79: 2017 Comprehensive guide to steam sterilization and sterility assurance in health care facilities 2017
- 77. Smilanich RP, Bonnet I, Kirkpatrick J. Contaminated wounds: The effect of initial management of outcome. Am Surg. 1995; 61:427-30.
- 78. Weiss Y. Simplified management of operative wounds by early exposure. Int Surg. 1983; 68:237-40.
- 79. Chrintz H, Vibits H, Cordtz TO et al. Need for surgical wound dressing. Br J Surg. 1989; 76: 204-5.
- 80. Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals. NHS Trust. Caring for your surgical wound. Information and advice for patients; 2013.
- 81. Sardina D. Is your wound-cleansing practice up to date? Wound Care Advisor. 2013; 2(3): 15-17.
- 82. Smyth ETM and Emmerson AM. Surgical site infection surveillance. J Hosp Infect. 2000; 45:173-84.





- 83. Morikane K, Nishioka M, Tanimura H et al. Using surveillance data to direct infection control efforts to reduce surgical site infections following clean abdominal operations in Japan. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2002; 23:404-6.
- 84. HA CICO and ICB, CHP. Protocol for Hospital Authority (HA) Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Surveillance; 2016
- 85. Centre for Health Protection. Scientific Committee on Infection Control. Recommendations on Surgical Site Infection Surveillance; 2006.
- 86. National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Surveillance for Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Events. [online] 2018 [cited 2019 Feb 8] Available from: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/acute-care-hospital/ssi/index.html">https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/acute-care-hospital/ssi/index.html</a>
- 87. Wilson APR, Hodgson B, Liu M et al. Reduction in wound infection rates by wound surveillance with post discharge follow-up and feedback. Br J Sur. 2006; 93:630-8.
- 88. Avato JL, Kwan KL. Impact of post discharge surveillance on surgical site infection rates for coronary artery bypass procedures. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2002; 23: 364-367.
- 89. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Advances in SSI risk adjustment. NNIS News. 2000;18:4.
- 90. Mu Y, Edwards R, Horan TC et al. Improving Risk-Adjusted Measures of Surgical Site Infection for the National Healthcare Safety Network. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2011; 32(10): 970-86.
- 91. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Tuberculosis [online] 2016 [updated 2016 May; cited 2019 Feb 8]. Available from: <a href="https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng33">https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng33</a>
- 92. Jensen PA, Lambert LA, lademarco MF, et al. Guidelines for preventing the transmission of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in health-care settings, 2005. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005 Dec 30; 54(RR-17):1-141
- 93. US Army Center for Health Promotion and Preventive Medicine. Guidelines on design and operation of HVAC systems in disease isolation areas. [online]. 2000 [cited 2016 Dec 12]. Available from: https://zh.scribd.com/document/1743383/US-Army-TG252
- 94. Kramer A, Kranabetter R, Rathgeber J et al. Infection prevention during anaesthesia ventilation by the use of breathing system filters (BSF): Joint recommendation by German Society of Hospital Hygiene (DGKH) and German Society for Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care (DGAI). GMS Krankenhaushygiene Interdisziplinar. 2010; 5(2): ISSN 1863-5245.
- 95. Guidelines Infection Control in Anaesthesia. Journal of the Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland. 2008; 63: 1027-36.





# Addendum 02/2019

Clause	Page	Amended clause
E(c)	13	Maintain the ventilation at a
		minimum of 20 air changes per hour
		(ACH) of which at least 4 ACH
		should be fresh air
M(a)	19	A system of detection and communication should be established to evaluate surgical patients prior to surgery and communicate to relevant departments to facilitate arrangement of necessary infection control
		<u>measures</u>
Reference 53, 54, 57	29	Updated reference
Reference 76	30	Updated reference



